STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

2017-CP-32-04132

Ivis Ahimara Reyes Yedra,

PETITIONER,

v.

State of South Carolina,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001309

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ASHLEY A. MCMAHAN
McMahan & Taylor Attorneys, LLC
PO Box 5501
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 219-1110

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER RELIEF WHEN THE PETITIONER'S COUNSEL HAD A CONFLICT OF INTEREST?
2. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER RELIEF WHEN PETITIONER'S COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE INCORRECTLY ADVISED THE APPLICANT OF THE PLEA OFFER.
3. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER RELIEF WHEN PETITIONER'S COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY NOTIFY THE PETITIONER THAT SHE WOULD FACE MANDATORY DEPORTATION AND COULD NOT BECOME A LEGAL PERMANENT RESIDENT.
4. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER RELIEF WHEN THE PETITIONER'S COUNSEL FAILED TO RAISE AND DISCUSS ANY POSSIBLE DEFENSES WITH THE PETITIONER.
5. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION WHEN COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE ERRONEOUSLY ADVISED THE PETITIONER ON THE AMOUNT OF TIME SHE WOULD SERVE?
6. DID THE PCR COURT ERR WHEN IT DENIED THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION BECAUSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE FAILED TO MOVE TO QUASH THE INDICTMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on October 15, 2013, for two counts of trafficking in marijuana pursuant to a multi-count indictment related to a marijuana growing and distribution operation that was throughout the midlands of South Carolina (2013-GS-47-00019). (App. p. 279). Stephen Paul Gant, Esquire, of the Florida Bar was admitted *pro hac vice* and for representation of the Petitioner. Arthur K. Aiken, Esquire was local counsel. (App. pp. 179-180). However, Steven E. Amster, Esquire of the Florida Bar actually represented Petitioner along with all the other co-defendants.¹

On October 7, 2014, the Petitioner pled guilty to a negotiated plea before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker to two counts of the lesser-included offense of manufacturing marijuana. (App. pp. 277-278) The transcript from that guilty plea was unavailable and on February 20, 2019, the record of that guilty plea was reconstructed. (App. pp. 1-36.) Petitioner was sentenced to a negotiated five year sentence. Petitioner was released from the SC Department of Corrections on December 28, 2016. Petitioner did not appeal her guilty plea or sentence.

Petitioner filed her application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on November 7, 2017. (2017-CP-32-04132). (App. pp. 37-49). The State filed its Return and Motion to Dismiss on or about May 7, 2017, (App. pp. 50-59) requesting the Petitioner's application be dismissed for failing to file within the one-year

¹ Various individual Florida attorneys were admitted *pro hac vice* to represent the group of defendants. (App. pp. 174-212.) Those attorneys included Stephen P. Gant representing the Petitioner and Janesky Vasquez; Esther Pino supposedly represented Osniel Garcia and Manuel Suarez; Steven E. Amster supposedly only represented Yaima Perez, Gustavo Del Sol, and Robiel Gonzalez. (Id.) However, as the evidence shows, Mr. Amster actually

limitations period. A hearing was held on November 7, 2018, requesting a continuance to reconstruct the guilty plea transcript. This request was granted on November 9, 2018. (App pp. 60-65). The guilty plea was sufficiently reconstructed on February 20, 2019. (App pp. 66-71, pp 1-36)

The PCR hearing was held on April 1, 2019, before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, at the Lexington County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Ashley A. McMahan, Esquire. Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General Megan H. Jameson represented the Respondent. On June 11, 2019, Judge McLeod denied the State's request to dismiss based on the statute of limitations and dismissed the Petitioner's PCR application. (App pp. 72-169, pp. 213-247) On June 21, 2019, the Petitioner filed a Motion to Alter or Amend. (App. pp. 249-255). The State replied on July 19, 2019. (App. pp. 257-267). The Petitioner's motion was denied on July 26, 2019. (App. pp. 268-276). This petition follows.

represented them all.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The reviewing court defers to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if supported by any evidence in the record. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 179–181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Furthermore, the reviewing court affords great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and this court will reverse the PCR court if its decision is controlled by an error of law. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application, as the Petitioner's counsel had a conflict of interest.

The PCR court found that the Petitioner's attorney did not have a conflict of interest in representing all of the co-defendants. The court erred in this ruling. To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel arising from multiple representations, an applicant must show that counsel actively represented conflicting interests. See Langford v. State, 310 SC 357, 426 SE2d 793 (1993). An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's. See Fuller v. State, 347 SC 630, 557 SE2d 664 (2001).

While the co-defendants were *technically* represented by three different attorneys in this matter, Mr. Amster testified he essentially represented all of the co-defendants. (App. p. 116, lines 3-8.) He also stated he always met with them as a group. (App. p. 48, lines 23-24.) Petitioner noted that it was she and her co-defendant that met with him together. (App. p. 90, lines 13-17.) Furthermore, Mr. Amster testified at the PCR hearing "there were conflicts and everybody was getting the same deal. So I didn't seem- I didn't see any problems with it." (App. p. 116, lines 6-8.) He also did not recall if he ever asked counseled the Petitioner about a potential conflict of interest or if the judge advised only at the time of the guilty plea and that "[i]t was always kind of meeting as a group. (App. p. 116, line 15 – p. 117, line 8; p. 119, lines 23-24.) Mr. Wedekind, the prosecutor, also testified that he only dealt with Mr. Amster and when he expressed concern about a possible conflict

Mr. Amster brushed it off since they were “all getting the same deal.” (App. p. 158, lines 20-22; p. 158, lines 17-18; p. 159, lines 18-20; p. 156, lines 23-25.)

He owed duties to the other co-defendants that were adverse to the Petitioner’s, as their defenses would be different from hers and her defenses would be adverse to Osniel Garcia’s. The Petitioner was only in the US for ten days (and not at the house in South Carolina the entire ten days as she had to travel from Laredo, TX). (App. p. 172 – date of entry into the United States is August 22, 2013.) Mr. Garcia testified she didn’t know anything about the plants nor would she have been able to smell them due to his ventilation system. (App. p. 137, lines 8-9.) He is clearly the culpable party based on his own testimony. Mr. Garcia also testified that Mr. Amster did not explain to him that there was a conflict of interest and also stated that he and the Applicant only met with Mr. Amster together, never separately. (App. p. 138, lines 16 – 24.) Mr. Amster also admitted he never met with the Petitioner by herself. (App. p. 128, lines 3-5.)

To be valid, a defendant's waiver of a conflict of interest in his counsel must not only be voluntary, it must be done knowingly and intelligently. See Thomas v. State, 346 SC 140, 551 SE2d 254 (2001). Applicant testified she was told she had to waive the conflict by Mr. Amster. (App. p. 99, lines 5-18; p. 107, lines 5-8.) Clearly there was an issue regarding the conflict as Mr. Wedekind testified that there was some pausing of the proceedings by the judge to ask more questions about the conflict and to see if the defendants understood what was going on. (App. p. p. 20, line 3 – p. 21, line 12; p. 25, line 11 – p. 26, line 11.) Furthermore, Mr. Amster was

not the Applicant's attorney. (App. p. 175.) He was never admitted *pro hac vice* to represent her, Stephan Gant was. Mr. Amster was not licensed or permitted in anyway by the South Carolina Supreme Court to represent the Applicant

Petitioner did what she testified she was told to do, to waive the conflict and agree with the questioning by the judge. A waiver is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary unless defendant knows of precise form of conflict of interest that eventually results. See United States v. Swartz, 975 F.2d 1042, 1048-49 (4 th Cir.1992). (See also Lomax v. State, 379 SC 93, 665 SE2d 164 (2008), An actual conflict of interested existed where counsel simultaneously represented petitioner and her husband during guilty pleas which arose out of related offenses.) Once an actual conflict of interest is shown, applicant does not have to demonstrate prejudice. See Thomas, *supra*. Based on the foregoing, the PCR court should be reversed and the PCR granted.

The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application as counsel was ineffective when he incorrectly advised the Applicant of the plea offer.

The PCR court found that Mr. Amster was not ineffective in his representation in his advising of the Petitioner about the plea offer. Mr. Amster testified that the plea offer from Mr. Wedekind was all or nothing. According to Mr. Amster's understating, all the co-defendants that it was offered to had to take it or no one got the benefit of the plea bargain. (App. p. 118, lines 9-11.) Mr. Wedekind testified that this was incorrect. The plea offer was to each of the individual women who were residing or staying at the homes that were growing the marijuana and that is was not all or nothing. (App. p. 151, lines 19-22.) Rather, each individual

defendant it was offered to decide to take the offer or reject it.

Applicant relied on this all-or-nothing assertion from Mr. Amster that the plea offer would fail for all the other co-defendants if she did not take it. Applicant testified she felt she had to take for everyone else. (App. p. 91, lines 3 – 9.) Mr. Amster was ineffective in his conveying of the plea offer to the Applicant because it wasn't the correct plea offer.

A defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel during plea negotiations. See Judge v. State, 321 SC 554, 471 SE2d 146 (1996). To support a claim that defense counsel's deficient performance in failing to communicate a plea offer to a defendant resulted in actual prejudice, as required to establish ineffective assistance, it is not always necessary for a defendant to offer objective evidence; instead, depending on the facts of the case, a defendant's self-serving statement may be sufficient to establish actual prejudice. See Davie v. State, 381 SC 601, 675 SE2d 416 (2009), *overruled on other grounds by* Smalls v. State, 422 SC 174, 810 SE2d 836 (2018). Based on the foregoing, the PCR court should be reversed and the PCR granted.

The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application as counsel was ineffective when he failed to adequately notify the Petitioner that she would face mandatory deportation and could not become a Legal Permanent Resident.

The PCR court found that Mr. Amster adequately advised the Petitioner regarding her immigration consequences. The PCR court was incorrect in its ruling. An attorney for an alien charged with a crime has a Constitutional obligation to inform their client that the conviction carries a risk that the person will be

deported. See Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 US 356 (2010).

Mr. Amster testified that most of his clients are not US citizens and are Cuban nationals. (App. p. 120, lines 6 – 8.) Additionally, Mr. Amster testified he just started practicing immigration law, a month before the PCR hearing. (App. p. 114, lines 8-9). He further noted that he would generally tell his Cuban clients that “although Cubans are still not being deported, we never know... what’s going to happen next” and that the deportation order would be “hanging over your head” and would prevent the person from leaving the US. (App. p. 120, lines 17-19; p. 120, lines 22-25; p. 120, line 25 – p. 121, line 1.) He also could not recall if he ever told the Petitioner any of this. (App. p. 121, lines 4 – 9.)

Petitioner stated that Mr. Amster never told her she would face immigration consequences and never explained that the conviction would bar her from becoming a permanent resident. (App. p. 96, line 19 – p. 97, line 1; p. 106, lines 6 – 14.)

In State v. Tejeiro, 345 P.3d 1074 (NM Ct. App. 2014), defense counsel was found to be deficient when counsel failed to advise their Cuban client on immigration consequences of a guilty plea. Whether counsel advised her of her lack of ability to be deported because the US does not have an agreement to return Cuban nationals *at this time*, he never advised her that this conviction would result in mandatory deportation and that she would never be able to adjust to a legal permanent US resident (green card holder). Also, he never advised her that at the time the US resumes an agreement with Cuba she would still be mandatorily deported because she would still have an order of deportation.

While counsel informed defendant that she could face deportation, he failed to advise applicant that the deportation was presumptively mandatory even without an agreement with Cuba, and counsel has duty to correctly advise defendant of law regarding deportation. See Taylor v. State, 422 SC 222, 810 SE2d 862 (2018). “Pursuant to Padilla, counsel must do more than ‘discuss immigration’ or advise Petitioner he might face adverse immigration consequences.” Id. Padilla imposes a duty on legal counsel to understand Petitioner's legal status and correctly advise her of the law² concerning deportation. Id. Where the deportation consequence is clear, the duty to give correct advice is equally clear. Padilla at 369. “[D]eportation is an integral part—indeed, sometimes the most important part—of the penalty that may be imposed on noncitizen defendants who plead guilty to specified crimes.” Lee v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966, 198 L. Ed. 2d 476 (2017) (quoting Padilla, 559 U.S. at 364 (footnote omitted)). (See also United States v. Carrillo Murillo, 927 F.3d 808 (2019) at 817 “The mere utterance and existence of such statements and language -- without context -- cannot conclusively determine that a defendant would have pled guilty regardless of the immigration consequences of doing so.”) Based on the foregoing, the PCR court should be reversed and the PCR granted.

The PCR court erred when it denied the Petitioner’s PCR application when counsel

² The Cuban Adjustment Act of 1966 (CAA) allows Cuban natives or citizens living in the United States who meet certain eligibility requirements to apply to become lawful permanent residents (get a Green Card). See <https://www.uscis.gov/greencard/caa>. However, pursuant to federal law, an alien admitted to the United States who is convicted of a violation of “any law or regulation of a State, the United States, or a foreign country relating to a controlled substance ... other than a single offense involving possession for one's own use of 30 grams or less of marijuana, is deportable.” 8 U.S.C.A. § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i). A controlled substance conviction makes the Applicant unable to adjust to a green card holder and inadmissible to ever adjust status in the US.

was ineffective when he failed to raise and discuss any possible defenses with the Petitioner.

The PCR court erred in denying relief to Petitioner when Mr. Amster failed to discuss with her the defense of mere presence. “The mere knowledge that another person is going to commit a crime, even if the defendant is present when the crime is committed is not sufficient to convict the defendant as a principal.” See State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 610 S.E.2d 859 (2005).

Petitioner was only in the US for ten days at the time of the search warrant. (App. p. 87, lines 11 – 13.) Mr. Garcia testified that the plants were about six months old and that the Petitioner knew nothing about his operation as he had told her not to enter the rooms where the plants were and because he had a very good ventilation system in place so that the home did not smell. (App. p. 137, lines 16-20; p. 137, lines 8-9.) Petitioner testified that she wasn’t even at the home most of the time because she was out exploring. (App. p. 94, line 24 – p. 95, line 16.) Petitioner had a valid defense that was never raised or discussed with her. She state she would not have pled guilty had she known about the defense. (App. p. 110, lines 14 – 24.) Even the prosecutor acknowledged this is his testimony. “From the best of my recollection, she was present, although briefly.” (App. p. 117, lines 22-23.)

She was never an accomplice or co-conspirator. She merely associated with one who committed the crime with no knowledge of it and was merely present at the scene. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998). Furthermore, mere presence at the scene of a crime is not enough to indict one as a principal, unless there is a legal duty to act. State v. Johnson, 291 S.C. 127, 352 S.E.2d 480 (1987).

Since she had no knowledge of the crime, she had no duty to act. Counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this defense and discuss it with the Petitioner as an option. Had he done so she would not have pleaded guilty. Therefore, the Court was incorrect to deny her PCR based on this issue and this Court should reverse the PCR court's decision.

The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application when counsel was ineffective when he erroneously advised the Petitioner on the amount of time she would serve.

The PCR court denied Petitioner relief ruling that counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel in his advice to her regarding the amount of time she would serve. Counsel testified that he advised the Petitioner she would serve about 18 months with parole and good time credits. (App. p. 122, lines 23-25; p. 123, lines 1-5.) In fact, the Applicant served over two years. She testified she didn't find out that she would have to serve that much time until she went to SCDC and relied on that advice when she decided to accept the plea offer. (App. p. 97, lines 5 – 11.)

If a defendant is actively misinformed about parole eligibility, she must prove she relied on this information in order to receive post-conviction relief. Griffin v. Martin, 278 SC 620, 300 SE2d 482 (1983). *See also* Coats v. State, 352 SC 500, 575 SE2d 557 (2003), ruling that counsel was ineffective for improperly advising defendant that he would be parole eligible. The Petitioner requests this court reverse the denial of the PCR court on this issue.

The PCR court erred when it denied the Petitioner's application because counsel was ineffective when he failed to move to quash the indictment.

The PCR court ruled counsel was not ineffective when he did not move to

quash the indictment. But counsel was ineffective for failing to quash the indictment issued by the State Grand Jury. The State Grand Jury process differs from the normal county grand jury process in that testimony is taken and recorded by a court reporter. (The process is mirrored after the federal grand jury process.) The testimony presented establishes whether or not there is probable cause that the person was involved with the crime. That is, more likely than not that a crime was committed and the Petitioner was somehow involved with the conspiracy to manufacture marijuana. *See i.e. In re Snyder*, 308 S.C. 192, 417 S.E.2d 572 (1992). The State wholly failed to present any probable cause that the Petitioner had any knowledge or was involved with this conspiracy.

The only time her name is mentioned is when the indictment is being presented. Once in Court's Exhibit 1³, State Grand Jury transcript October 15, 2013, 10am to 10:38am, on page 5, line 20, and again on page 11, line 12. The only offered evidence regarding the Applicant's involvement was "signs of being inside the residence." *Id* at page 12, lines 10-11.

At one point a grand juror asked "[i]f a person who lives at these residences where y'all found the marijuana...is it possible for them not to know that there is marijuana growing in that location?" *See* Court's Exhibit 1, State Grand Jury transcript October 15, 2013, 10am to 10:38am, page 10, lines 16-19.

The response from the State was no, because the trailers had been completely converted to grow marijuana, the bathrooms were gone, and all the rooms were

³This exhibit was sealed by the PCR court due to State Grand Jury secrecy and as such, is not included in the Appendix. The Petitioner requests this court review the sealed exhibit along with the