STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY
Donald B. Hocker, Plea Judge
Walton J. McLeod, IV, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 30 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-001309

IVIS AHIMARA REYES YEDRA,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Here, the record establishes Petitioner was aware plea counsel Amster represented Garcia and numerous other co-conspirators, counsel informed her of potential conflict of interest arising from this concurrent representation, and after these conversations, Petitioner knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived this conflict on the record at her plea proceeding. The

uncontroverted testimony from Petitioner, plea counsel, and the prosecutor all firmly establish that Petitioner was advised of a potential conflict arising from plea counsel's representation of her and her co-conspirators. Petitioner knew counsel was actively representing her co-conspirators from the inception of the representation (and it appears this was the planned goal for all co-conspirators, who retained the services of out-of-state counsel in South Florida jointly) and knew that all similarly situated co-conspirators were being offered the same plea deal. Petitioner was advised she could have independent counsel appointed to represent her if she so wished and Petitioner actually sought out the advice of independent counsel before she entered her guilty plea represented by counsel Amster. Petitioner, having been apprised of the precise nature of the conflict of interest and after seeking the advise of independent counsel, made a knowingly, voluntary, and intelligent waiver of any potential conflict arising from the joint representation. See Thomas, 346 S.C. at 144, 551 S.E.2d at 256 ("To be valid, a waiver of a conflict of interest must not only be voluntary, it must be done knowingly and intelligently.") (citing United States v. Swartz, 975 F.2d 1042, 1048–50 (4th Cir.1992) (holding that a waiver is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary unless the defendant knows the precise form of the conflict of interest that eventually results)).

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court squarely rejected Petitioner's claims she purportedly did not understand her what she was doing when she waived the potential conflict. This is a credibility finding that is entitled to this Court's deference on appeal. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (stating the reason appellate courts give great deference to the post-conviction relief court's findings is because the court has the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses). The post-conviction relief court did not err in finding that Petitioner waived any conflict of interest. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel in his advice regarding the five-year plea offer that Petitioner knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently accepted in order to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted at trial.

Petitioner asserts plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective in advising Petitioner regarding the plea offer from the State. Specifically, Petitioner alleges counsel improperly advised her that she needed to accept the plea offer or else none of her co-conspirators would reap the benefits of the offer. She claims that this is what induced her plea, as she “felt like she had to take [the plea offer] for everyone else.” (PWC 9). However, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, as the record firmly establishes Petitioner was induced to plead guilty after she was properly advised of her potential sentence exposure if convicted at trial and she pled guilty to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted at trial. Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness and was not entitled to relief on this claim.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified counsel advised her she faced a twenty-five year sentence if convicted at trial. Both counsel and Petitioner testified they discussed a high probability she would be convicted at trial based on the evidence the State intended to present. Petitioner repeatedly testified she elected to forgo a trial because she wanted to avoid a possible twenty-five-year term of imprisonment if convicted at trial and it was this that induced the plea. (App. 96, 106). Her assertions on appeal that she pled guilty as an act of martyrdom to secure plea offers for her co-conspirators does not reflect the reality of the record—Petitioner pled guilty to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted at trial and this is what induced the plea. Accordingly, she cannot establish she is entitled to relief. See Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 726 S.E.2d 1 (2012) (noting an applicant cannot establish prejudice where the defendant did not choose to plead guilty on basis of erroneous advice, but rather on basis of the State’s offer to dismiss two charges and recommend a 10-year sentence); Bennett v. State, 371 S.C. 198, 203–

04, 638 S.E.2d 673, 675 (2006) (“Where there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove prejudice by showing that, but for counsel’s errors, there is a reasonable probability he would not have pleaded guilty and instead would have insisted on going to trial.”). The post-conviction relief properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel regarding immigration consequences of her guilty plea where counsel properly advised Petitioner she faced mandatory deportation as a result of her guilty plea.

Petitioner asserts plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective in advising her as to the immigration consequences of her plea. On appeal, Petitioner improperly portrays counsel as a novice with little immigration experience who affirmatively misadvised Petitioner that she would not be deported as a result of her guilty plea. However, this does not accurately reflect the record—counsel, who was well-versed in handling criminal matters with immigration components—properly advised Petitioner she would receive deportation orders as a result of her guilty plea. The post-conviction relief relied on counsel’s credible testimony and properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

An attorney has a duty to advise a defendant of immigration consequences and presumptive deportation. Taylor v. State, 422 S.C. 222, 810 S.E.2d 862 (2018). Here, counsel properly advised Petitioner regarding the immigration consequences of her guilty plea. Counsel testified he has spent his career handling criminal matters in the south Florida region and the vast majority of his clients has some immigration concerns associated with their pleas. (App. 120). He specifically noted a large percentage of his clients are Cuban nationals like Petitioner. (App. 120). He testified his standard practice is to advise his clients that they will received deportation orders as a result of their pleas or convictions. (App. 120-21). The post-conviction relief court determined this testimony credible and controlling, finding Petitioner was properly advised on

the immigration consequences of her plea. These credibility findings are afforded great weight on appeal. See Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (stating the reason appellate courts give great deference to the post-conviction relief court's findings is because the court has the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses). There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's findings and these findings are not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

IV. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel regarding possible defenses where the uncontroverted testimony establishes counsel properly discussed and explored possible defenses with Petitioner and she knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived her right to pursue any defenses to accept a favorable plea offer from the State.

Petitioner asserts plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to discuss viable defenses with her and that his failure to do so induced the plea. Petitioner, again on appeal, reasserts she was merely present and ignorant of the large drug manufacturing operation ongoing at the home she was living in for more than a week. However, this argument properly rejected by the post-conviction relief court. The uncontroverted testimony before the post-conviction relief court established Petitioner and counsel discussed the facts and circumstances surrounding her involvement (or purported lack thereof) in the drug manufacturing ring, discussed the likelihood of conviction at trial, and following these discussions, Petitioner made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision to plead guilty. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner and counsel both testified they discussed that Petitioner had recently arrived in the country, had been living in the home for a relatively short period of time, and she claimed to have no knowledge of the large-scale marijuana growing operation in the home. Counsel testified he then presented this information to the prosecutor in an attempt to get Petitioner's charges

dismissed and “the prosecutor would not bend.” (App. 117-19, 130-31). Counsel elaborated the prosecutor advised him the State was prepared to present numerous law enforcement witnesses who would all testify the smell of marijuana strongly permeated throughout the house and that it was not plausible someone could reside there without knowledge of the drug operation. Counsel and Petitioner both testified he conveyed this information to Petitioner, explained she faced up to twenty-five years of incarceration if convicted at trial, and that he believed there was a strong possibility she would be convicted at trial. (App. 90-92, 107). After these discussions, Petitioner elected to forgo her right to a jury trial and present possible defenses, including mere presence, to accept a favorable, negotiated plea offer from the State. Petitioner’s guilty plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered with the advice of competent counsel. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

V. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel in his advice regarding the actual length of incarceration where counsel never improperly advised or promised Petitioner a specific period of time she would be incarcerated.

Petitioner asserts plea counsel was constitutionally ineffective for promising her she would only be required to serve a fraction of the negotiated, five year sentence pursuant to her plea agreement. She asserts this promise of a shorter term of imprisonment is what induced her plea. However, the post-conviction relief court, relying on testimony from counsel that it deemed credible, found Petitioner was properly advised as to the possible length of her sentence and properly denied this allegation. This Court should deny certiorari.

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified he advised Petitioner the State’s plea offer was for a sentence of five years’ imprisonment. He advised her that she may be eligible for some type of early release, but unequivocally stated he did not guarantee her that she would be released from incarceration early. (App. 122-23). The post-conviction relief court found this

testimony credible and dispositive. These findings should be given great deference on appeal. See Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (stating the reason appellate courts give great deference to the post-conviction relief court's findings is because the court has the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses). This Court should deny certiorari.

VI. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel for failing to move to quash the indictment where counsel had no good faith basis to challenge the indictment and any such challenge would not have been successful.

Petitioner asserts the State Grand Jury improperly indicted her because there was no evidence of probable cause that she was involved in the drug conspiracy but was merely present. She argues counsel should have moved to quash the indictment on these grounds and was constitutionally ineffective for failing to do so. However, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, finding the transcripts of the State Grand Jury proceedings (which were admitted under seal and are being transported for this Court's review) establish there was probable cause to indict Petitioner. Moreover, a motion to quash an indictment based on the sufficiency of the evidence would not have been proper.

The post-conviction relief court properly ruled there was probable cause to indict Petitioner. The transcripts from the State Grand Jury proceedings, introduced under seal as court's Ex. # 1 at the evidentiary hearing, establish the law enforcement officer present for the execution of the search warrant testified before the State Grand Jury that Petitioner was present at the home during the execution of the search warrant and evidence established she appeared to be residing at the home. See Tr. of Special Agent Dennis Tracy on Oct. 15, 2013, p. 12. There was sufficient probable cause for the indictment against Petitioner.

Moreover, any motion to quash the indictment based on the sufficiency of the evidence would not have been proper because the indictment contained the necessary elements of

trafficking in marijuana and sufficiently apprised Respondent of what allegations he was facing. See State v. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. 475, 477, 266 S.E.2d 61, 62 (1980) (explaining an indictment is sufficient if “the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer, and acquittal or conviction to be placed in bar to any subsequent conviction”); State v. Smalls, 336 S.C. 301, 307, 519 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 1999) (“[T]he true test of an indictment’s validity is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (“Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.”). Under these circumstances, the indictment issued by the State Grand Jury was facially valid and sufficient, and accordingly, the circuit court judge would not have had any authority to dismiss the indictment prior to trial. See United States v. Mills, 995 F.2d 480, 487 (4th Cir. 1993) (“The longstanding rule of law that courts may not ‘look behind’ grand jury indictments if ‘returned by a legally constituted and unbiased grand jury . . .’ is the touchstone for any inquiry into the legality of indictments.”) (quoting Costello v. United States, 350 U.S. 359, 363 (1956)); State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 146, 508 S.E.2d 857, 863 (1998) (“[A] trial court generally has **no power** to dismiss a properly drawn indictment issued by a properly constituted grand jury before trial unless a statute grants that power to the court.” (emphasis added)); State v. Garrett, 305 S.C. 203, 206, 406 S.E.2d 910, 911

(Ct. App. 1991) (“A motion to quash an indictment addresses the sufficiency of the indictment, not the sufficiency of the State’s evidence.”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993). Accordingly, any motion to quash based on the sufficiency of the indictment based on a lack of probable cause or other evidentiary challenge would not have been proper and no there was valid ground on which counsel could have filed a motion to quash. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.